IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO. 91,550

vs.

KEVIN KITPATRICK CARSON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE RECOMMENDATION OF A REFEREE

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KEVIN KITPATRICK CARSON KEVIN "KIT" CARSON, P.A. 315 South Palmetto Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 255-2273 Florida Bar No. 370711

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent (Kit Carson) and Steven Vasilaros met and came to know each other in 1986 or 1987, when Mr. Vasilaros worked at a civil law firm and Mr. Carson worked with the criminal division of the Attorney General's Office in Daytona Beach, Florida. years later, Mr Carson went into private practice (TT 207, Bar's Exhibit 3, page 32). Mr. Carson has been a police officer and is described as being "straight-laced" (TT 239). Having become friends, the two lawyers entered into a mutually advantageous referral relationship, whereby Mr. Vasilaros told Mr. Carson that he would pay Mr. Carson 25% of the attorney's fee for personal injury cases that he obtained as a result of referrals made by Mr. Carson to him (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 19, 32). Mr. Carson did not handle these types of cases (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 12, 33). This arrangement appeared to be common in the Daytona Beach area; so, Mr. Carson agreed to refer cases to Vasilaros. Mr. Carson assumed joint responsibility for the representation of clients in the cases he referred to Vasilaros. If Vasilaros needed help, all he had to do is give Mr. Carson a call and Mr. Carson would do whatever was within his power to help. If Vasilaros needed Mr. Carson to jump, Mr. Carson would ask "how high"? (TT 160, 206; Bar's Exhibit 3. pages 32-34, 44). Mr. Carson was available to consult with clients at all times (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 12). There was no requirement that Mr. Carson do any work on the referred cases or that the referral be by letter (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 25, 32). Vasilaros' firm handled personal injury cases, it was agreed that

Vasilaros would have the responsibility for drafting contracts with clients (Respondent's Exhibit 8). This was also the customary practice in Volusia County (TT 125, 197). Vasilaros was the "captain of the ship" (TT 61).

Pursuant to the agreement of the parties, Mr. Carson referred cases to Vasilaros. Mr. Carson had an advertisement in the telephone book Yellow Pages (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 33). His office telephone number was (904) 255-CARE or (904) 255-2273 (See, Mr. Carson's business card, paper clipped to Respondent's Exhibit 8). Even though Mr. Carson did not advertise for personal injury cases, people would call Mr. Carson. Mr. Carson would refer these and other people to Vasilaros and advise them of his arrangement with Vasilaros (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 12, 33).

In October of 1992, Mr. Carson referred Jenine Fox to Vasilaros for representation. Vasilaros wrote Mr. Carson a letter thanking him for the referral and agreeing to pay him 25% of the attorneys fee in the case. Vasilaros also invited future referrals, saying, "I want to thank you for your kind consideration in referring this lady to me and of course, if I can be of any help to you in any future matters, please feel free to contact me." Vasilaros' law partner, Jonathan Rotstein, signed this letter (TT 155; Respondent's Exhibit 1).

In May of 1993, Mr. Carson referred Anthony Prenkiewicz to Vasilaros for representation. On June 8, 1993, Vasilaros wrote Mr. Carson a letter thanking him for the referral and agreed to pay him 25% of the attorneys fee in that case. Vasilaros, again invited

future referrals from Mr. Carson, saying, "thank you again for your kind cooperation, and if I can be of further service to you in the future, please contact me." Vasilaros' law partner, Jonathan Rotstein, signed this letter (TT 157-158, 206; Respondent's Exhibit 3; Bar's Exhibit 3, page 23).

In September, 1993, Mr. Carson was told by Vasilaros' partner, Jonathan Rotstein, that the Jenine Fox case had settled. Rotstein told Mr. Carson to make sure that Vasilaros paid Mr. Carson. Mr. Carson arranged a personal meeting with Vasilaros in which the Fox case was discussed. As it turned out, there was no division of the fee the Fox case. Vasilaros had already disbursed the settlement funds to Ms. Fox and had paid the entire attorneys fee to himself. This was reflected in the settlement statement. (TT 60-61, 157-158). Vasilaros apologized for the forgetting about Mr. Carson and assured Mr. Carson that it would not happen again (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 35). As an incentive for future referrals, Vasilaros gave Mr. Carson a gift of \$650.00 out Vasilaros own funds (TT 158, RH 82). This was the sum that would have been due had a division of fee occurred (TT 64, 157-158).

Approximately three months later, in late 1993 or early 1994, Mr. Carson referred Mr. Franco to Vasilaros (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 7, 32). The referral of the Franco case came about when Mr. Carson was defending Mr. Franco against criminal charges (TT 162). During the criminal case representation, Mr. Franco consulted with Mr. Carson regarding a potential claim against Mobile Oil Corporation involving the death of Franco's wife (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 6). As

a result of Mr. Carson's referral, Mr. Franco met with an attorney (Michael Politis) at Vasilaros' office. On January 26, 1994, Mr. Franco signed a contingency fee agreement with Vasilaros (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 6-8, 11, 14, 87-88). Mr. Politis noted on the interview form that Mr. Franco had been "referred by Kit Carson" (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 14). Mr. Franco later met with Mr. Carson and informed him that Mr. Politis had been advised of his referral and that Politis had said "We'll take care of Kit (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 35).

On March 12, 1995, after a church service, Mr. Carson discussed Mr. Franco's case against Mobile Oil Company with him (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 10, 36, TT 160-161).

The trial week for the Mobile Oil suit was scheduled for April 3, 1995, and Mr. Carson had learned from Mr. Franco that the case had settled. Mr. Franco was disappointed about the settlement; however, Mr. Carson assured Franco that Vasilaros was a person who knew what he was doing and that Franco should trust Vasilaros' judgment (TT 160-161). Mr. Carson contacted Vasilaros about the case. To Mr. Carson's surprise, Vasilaros claimed that he did not know that Mr. Carson had referred the case to him; but, he said would check on it (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 37-38).

Later, Mr. Carson learned from Mr. Franco that Vasilaros had no intention of paying him any referral fee. Mr. Franco related that Vasilaros referred to a "statute" (Rule of Conduct) as the basis for not paying the fee (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 37). Since Mr. Carson did not practice personal injury law, he was not aware of

this Rule and, prior to Mr. Franco's statement, had no clue that anything was amiss (TT 163, 137; Respondent's Exhibit 8). Mr. Carson found the Rule and familiarized himself with it so that this kind of thing would not happen again (TT 163, 165, 172-173). Mr. Carson trusted and depended on Vasilaros to draft proper contracts. Mr. Carson did not authorize Vasilaros to do anything unethical (Respondent's Exhibit 8).

On April 25, 1995, Mr. Carson arranged a personal meeting with Vasilaros at Vasilaros' office. During the meeting, Vasilaros admitted that he had no doubt in his mind that Mr. Carson had referred him the case; stated that he appreciated Mr. Carson's referrals; thanked Mr. Carson for the referral; and, said that he didn't get a lot of referrals from other lawyers because a lot of lawyers don't like him. He also stated that his only concern about paying the referral fee to Mr. Carson was the Rule of Conduct. He concluded that he would speak with his partners about how to go about dividing the attorney fee, saying, "Where there is a will, there is a way." No funds relating to the Mobile Oil case had been disbursed at the time of this meeting (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 38).

On April 26, 1995, satisfied with his previous meeting with Vasilaros, Mr. Carson again referred Mr. Franco to Vasilaros. This referral related to suing Holly Spears, the girl who had brought false criminal charges against Mr. Franco. On May 3, 1995, Vasilaros wrote a letter thanking Mr. Carson for the referral and agreeing to pay 25% of any attorney fees recovered on the case (Respondent's Exhibit 2). Vasilaros had also agreed to prepare a

proper contingency fee contract to be signed by Mr. Carson, Mr. Franco and himself (TT 154-155, 200-201). A short time later, Vasilaros reneged on his agreement with Mr. Carson in the Spears case. Mr. Carson never received any fee in the Spears case (TT 62, 198, 222).

On May 16, 1995, Vasilaros wrote a letter to Mr. Carson and asked for input regarding how to go about a division of the attorney fee in the Franco v. Mobile Oil case. In the letter Vasilaros falsely claimed that he did not have any information in his file indicating that the case had been referred to him by the Mr. Carson. Vasilaros also falsely claimed that he had not been informed of the referral until after the case had settled (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 48; Respondent's Exhibit 4).

After receiving Vasilaros' May 16, 1998, letter, Mr. Carson contacted another personal injury attorney, Chobee Ebbets, to try to mediate the situation and to find a way to get Vasilaros to honor his agreement without violating any rules (TT 115; 202; Respondent's Exhibit 8). Ebbets was very surprised that Vasilaros was refusing to honor the agreement with Mr. Carson. Rather than pick up the telephone and call Vasilaros, Ebbets drove over to Vasilaros' office, unannounced. Ebbets had a personal meeting with Vasilaros. Vasilaros admitted owing money to Mr. Carson for the referral; but, claimed to be concerned about dividing the fee in a manner that would not violate any Rule of Conduct. He claimed that he did not know what to do about the oversight. During the conversation, Vasilaros agreed to prepare a stipulated set of

facts; submit them to the Mr. Carson and Mr. Ebbets; amend the stipulated facts if necessary; and, submit them to the Florida Bar or to a judge, depending on which course was decided. The purpose of this was to make sure that nothing unethical was being done and to protect the rules (TT 114-120, 137, 168-169).

Unknown to Mr. Carson and Mr. Ebbets, Vasilaros disbursed all of the attorney's fee from his trust account to his law firm. Mr. Ebbets was real surprised when he learned that Vasilaros had backed out of the agreement (TT 114-120, 137, 168-169). In backing out of the agreement, Vasilaros did not submit a set of facts for review by Mr. Carson and Mr. Ebbets; but rather, he had his law partner, Michael Politis, unilaterally, filed a Motion For Determination of Division Of Attorney's Fees on November 2, 1995. In the motion, Vasilaros cited Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.5(g) as the basis for determining whether he should pay Mr. Carson a fee in this case (Bar's Exhibit 2).

On January 24, 1996, a hearing was held on the Motion For Determination Of Division Of Attorney's Fees (Bar's Exhibit 3, pages 1-75). Michael Politis, Vasilaros' partner, was called as a witness by Bill Ogle, Mr. Carson's attorney. Politis was forced to admit that the Vasilaros firm actually did have Mr. Carson's name in the Franco file as the referring attorney (contrary to Vasilaros' earlier letter) (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 14). Politis testified (falsely) that the notation in the personal injury interview form, "referred by Kit Carson", was only for use in a "marketing" program for the Vasilaros & Politis law firm (Bar's

Exhibit 3, page 14).

During the hearing, Vasilaros admitted his referral relationship with Mr. Carson. He admitted that he had agreed to pay 25% of his fee to Mr. Carson for referrals (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 19). Letters from Vasilaros (described above), which showed a course of dealing (a referral relationship) between Vasilaros and Mr. Carson, were introduced into evidence at the hearing (Respondent's Exhibits 1, 2, 3). Vasilaros also finally admitted the he had a note that Mr. Carson had referred Mr. Franco to him (a fact that he had previously denied in a letter to Mr. Carson) (Bar's Exhibit 3, page 24, Respondent's Exhibit 4). Vasilaros chose to perjure himself and claim that he had no agreement to pay 25% of the attorney's fee in the Franco case to Mr. Carson (a position which was completely inconsistent with the admissions he had made to Chobee Ebbets) (TT 114-120).

On March 18, 1996, the lower court rendered its order denying Mr. Carson any portion of the fee in the Franco case. The lower court ruled that Mr. Carson had failed to prove that there was contract between Vasilaros and himself because he had failed to prove, by the greater weight of the evidence, that there was a meeting of the minds (Bar's Exhibit 2). Those who were familiar with the case and with Vasilaros were quite surprised by the ruling (Respondent's Exhibit 8). As a result, Mr. Carson never received any money in the case (TT 62, 178, 198).

On March 18, 1996, one of Mr. Carson's attorneys, Charles Holloman, filed a grievance against Vasilaros with the Florida Bar

alleging disbursement of disputed trust funds (TT 168). Mr. Holloman and Mr. Carson agreed that Mr. Holloman would file the grievance regarding the trust funds because we were concerned that Bar Staff Counsel would not take it seriously if Mr. Carson filed. As a victim in this incident, Mr. Carson believed that a Florida Bar investigator would contact him so that he could provide additional details, including the need to investigate Vasilaros (and possibly Politis) perjury. No investigator ever contacted Mr. Carson.

On April 3, 1996, Mr. Carson filed his Notice Of Appeal of circuit court's March 18, 1996 order. On October 15, 1996, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the order without opinion.

During the week of December 2, 1996, Mr. Carson contacted Mark Hall, the Chairman of the grievance committee which was handling the Vasilaros grievance. Mr. Carson asked about the hearing date for the grievance, which Mr. Hall advised was to be on December 11, 1996, and Mr. Carson expressed outrage that he had not been contacted. Mr. Hall suggested that Mr. Carson write a letter expressing Mr. Carson's concerns and that Mr. Carson shouldn't risk ticking off the investigating member. Mr. Carson hand delivered the letter to Mr. Hall's office on December 9, 1996. Within the letter, Mr. Carson added additional grievance matters to be considered by Assistant Staff Counsel Jan Wichrowski and the committee, including Vasilaros' perjury (TT 170-171, Respondent's Exhibit 8). Later, Mr. Carson learned that the hearing had been continued to January. Despite Mr. Carson's letter, he was never

contacted by any investigator or Jan Wichrowski about his additional allegations. Telephone calls to Wichrowski were never returned (Respondent's Exhibit 8)..

During the three and one half years since the closure of the Jenine Fox case, Mr. Carson had been doing pro bono work, helping clients, laughing, drinking, and tanning on Daytona Beach. Things seemed to be doing fine, until he received a package from Bar Staff Counsel in Orlando, Florida (TT 174).

The next Mr. Carson heard about the Vasilaros grievance was when, on the morning of February 10, 1997, he received a certified package, about two inches thick, with a letter dated February 7, from Wichrowski in which she accused Mr. Carson of entering agreements with Vasilaros to split fees in violation of our Rules of Professional Conduct. The documents in the package were actually documents that Mr. Carson had provided to Bar Staff Counsel through his attorney, Charles Holloman, as well as Mr. Holloman's briefs in Mr. Holloman's behalf in the appellate court. Mr. Carson could not believe his eyes. Mr. Carson was astonished, outraged, confused, hurt, and disheartened (TT 167, 171-172).

Mr. Carson called committee chairman Mark Hall about what happened to the Vasilaros grievance. Mr. Hall did not have the file with him and mistakenly advised Mr. Carson that there was a finding of no probable cause.

Next, Mr. Carson called Jan Wichrowski about the no probable cause finding, the lack of investigation, and about her allegations against him. Mr. Carson's main concern, when he was talking to

Wichrowski, was what she was doing to him. No one was complaining against Mr. Carson and he felt he had done nothing wrong. Carson did not practice personal injury law. What Mr. Carson had done was depend on a person he considered to be his friend (Vasilaros) to protect Mr. Carson's interests and, unfortunately, Vasilaros had not done so and later chose to perjure himself. Mr. Carson never authorized Vasilaros to do anything to violate any rules of conduct nor did Mr. Carson intend to violate such a rule. Wichrowski told Mr. Carson that it was the grievance committee that had prompted her to go after him about a violation of a fee splitting rule. According to Wichrowski, the accusation was not her doing. Mr. Carson also expressed his displeasure about a finding of no probable cause regarding Vasilaros. When Mr. Carson told Wichrowski that he would be filing a grievance against her because that matter had not been properly investigated, she threatened him, saying she would make a note in the file that he had threatened her. With that, Mr. Carson hung up on her.

Mr. Carson next called Frank Gummy, a member of the grievance committee. Frank told Mr. Carson that it was actually Wichrowski, not the committee, that had initiated the complaint against him. Mr. Gummy said that Wichrowski had "indicated that other files can be opened" and that she had prompted the committee to ask her to look into Mr, Carson's "possible violation."

Later in the day, Committee Chairman Mark Hall called Mr. Carson back, saying that he had been mistaken when he told Mr. Carson that there had been a finding of no probable cause as to

Vasilaros and that probable had actually been found on Holloman's complaint against Vasilaros (Respondent's Exhibit 8).

During the week of February 10, 1997, Charles Holloman spoke with Assistant Bar Staff Counsel James Keeter about the allegations that had been brought against Mr. Carson by Staff Counsel. During that conversation Keeter said that he remembered Mr. Carson from a grievance committee hearing, back in 1996, where there had been a finding of no probable cause. Keeter told Holloman that Keeter didn't like Mr. Carson's attitude; Mr. Carson was remorseless; and, "we're going to teach him a lesson" (TT 185-186).

On February 24, 1997, Mr. Carson responded to Wichrowski's February 7 letter and stack of papers. In the letter he pointed out that no one had complained against him, that Wichrowski's letter was not based upon any specific complaint, and he denied that he violated any Rule of Conduct (Bar's Exhibit 8).

Mr. Carson waited to get a letter from Wichrowski, confirming that probable cause was found as a result of **both** <u>his</u> complaint and that of Mr. Holloman regarding Vasilaros. Mr. Holloman received a letter saying that probable cause had been found as to Holloman's complaint. No letter was received by Mr. Carson advising him of any findings as to his perjury complaint against Vasilaros.

Mr. Carson asked that Jan Wichrowski remove herself from his case; however, she refused to do so. Mr. Carson also asked that Bar complaint be transferred to the grievance committee that would normally handle complaints directed at him. This request was also denied. Wichrowski conducted her own investigation into Mr.

Carson's complaints about her, found herself not guilty, and determined that she would continue to intimidate Mr. Carson. (TT 189, 191, 215; Respondent's Exhibit 8).

On May 16, 1997, Mr. Carson mailed a grievance against Wichrowski to Staff Counsel John Berry in Tallahassee (TT 215-216; Respondent's Exhibit 8). Berry mailed the original grievance to Bar Staff Counsel in Tampa.

On June 1, 1997, Florida Supreme Court Justice Major Harding was quoted in <u>The Florida Bar News</u> as saying, "I hope that you walk away knowing this is a system made up of real people, not sphinxes on the Nile. Don't hold us to the standard of perfection. We are humans" (Respondent's Exhibit 6).

On June 5, 1997, Tampa Branch Staff Counsel, David Ristoff mailed Mr. Carson's original complaint against Wichrowski (including the business card that had been mailed to Berry) back to Mr. Carson, saying he would close the file if Mr. Carson did swear to it. On June 20, 1997, Mr. Carson mailed the original complaint back to Mr. Ristoff, in Tampa (TT 215-215, Respondent's Exhibit 8).

On July 10, 1997, Jan Wichrowski responded to Mr. Carson's grievence. In her response, Wichrowski claimed she had recused herself from further involvement in, and supervision of, the prosecution of Mr. Carson (Respondent's Exhibit 8). Interestingly, she had assigned the case to, of all people, James Keeter (R 219; Bar's Exhibit 11).

On July 31, 1997, Mr. Carson responded to Wichrowski's letter (Respondent's Exhibit 8).

On August 20, 1997, Tampa Assistant Staff Counsel, Brett Geer, (a member of the Bar for less than 2 years at the time) whitewashed Mr. Carson's grievance. Geer redefined the issues in Mr. Carson's complaint in a manner that would make Bill Clinton proud. He did not deal with the major issues of Mr. Carson's complaint—Wichrowski's failure to investigate Vasilaros' perjury and why Mr. Carson's case was not handled by the grievance committee that would normally hear inquiries about him (TT 179, Respondent's Exhibit 8).

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