## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Glerk

Complainant,

Case No. 91,550 [TFB Case No. 97-31,222 (07C)]

v.

KEVIN KITPATRICK CARSON,

t.
t

## THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. **Executive Director** The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

PATRICIA ANN TORO SAVITZ Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida 32804-6314 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 559547

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 1997, the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" found probable cause against the respondent for violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.5(f)(2) and 4-1.5(g). On October 7, 1997, the bar filed its formal Complaint against the respondent and an answer to the complaint was filed by the respondent's counsel on or about October 27, 1997. The Honorable Jean M. Johnson was appointed as referee to hear this matter.

Discovery was conducted in this disciplinary case. On February 12, 1998, the bar filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and the respondent filed a motion to strike the bar's motion for partial summary judgment on or about February 16, 1998. The referee considered the bar's motion for summary judgment untimely as it was filed eight (8) days prior to the final hearing and no ruling was made on the motion. The final hearing was held on February 20, 1998. The bar submitted its Affidavit of Costs to the referee on March 11, 1998.

On March 20, 1998 the referee conducted a telephone conference with bar counsel and the respondent's counsel during which time problems with the final hearing transcription were discussed as well as the referee's proposed findings in this case. The March 20, 1998 telephone conference was not recorded by a court reporter. During the telephone conference, the referee indicated it was her

intention to refer the respondent to diversion to a practice and professionalism enhancement program as resolution of this case. On April 3, 1998, bar counsel forwarded a proposed Referee's Report Recommending Diversion to a Practice and Professionalism Enhancement Program and a copy of same was sent to the respondent's counsel. The bar's proposed report stated that the respondent's counsel and The Florida Bar concurred with the recommendation of diversion and also provided that \$2,336.07 in costs be assessed against the respondent pursuant to the bar's affidavit of costs previously submitted to the referee. By letter dated April 9, 1998 to the referee, the respondent's counsel objected to the assessment of costs against the respondent and also requested the referee delete a reference in the report, at paragraph three of the Narrative Summary, to the legal attempts of the respondent to collect a fee. Respondent's counsel did not file a motion nor did he request a hearing on either matter.

On April 16, 1998, the referee executed the Referee's Report Recommending Diversion to a Practice and Professionalism Enhancement Program as proposed by The Florida Bar without making any changes thereto. On April 30, 1998, the Supreme Court of Florida issued an order approving the referee's report and diverting this case to a practice and professionalism enhancement program pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.3. On or about May

12, 1998, the respondent, through his counsel, filed a Motion for Rehearing on the basis that there was no concurrence by the respondent with the referee's report. Also on May 12, 1998, the respondent filed, without counsel, a Petition for Review of Referee's Report. On May 15, 1998, the respondent filed a Notice of Discharge of Counsel wherein he terminated the representation of his attorney in this disciplinary case. On May 21, 1998 the Supreme Court approved the respondent's Notice of Discharge of Counsel.

On June 9, 1998, The Florida Bar submitted a Response to Petition for Review/Motion for Rehearing. On June 17, 1998, the respondent submitted a Motion to Strike The Florida Bar's Response to Petition for Review/Motion for Rehearing on the basis that the bar's response was untimely and that the bar was attempting to commit fraud upon the court by stating in its proposed referee's report that there was a concurrence of the parties when, in fact, the respondent had objected to the report. The Florida bar filed a response to the respondent's motion to strike on June 25, 1998.

By order dated September 2, 1998, the Supreme Court vacated its April 30, 1998 approving the referee's diversion recommendation and remanded this case to the referee "for a determination of whether these matters are contested and for resolution of any matters found to be in dispute." A hearing was held before the

On October 19, 1998, the bar submitted to the referee its Final Affidavit of Costs totaling \$2,956.05. The respondent submitted a Notice of Objection to Florida Bar's Final Affidavit of Costs on October 28, 1998. The bar filed a response to the respondent's notice of objection on November 2, 1998.

On October 29, 1998, the referee executed a second report recommending the respondent's diversion to a practice and professionalism enhancement program. In the report, the referee found that the respondent had failed to comply with the requirements of Rules 4-1.5(f) and (g); recommended that the respondent attend ethics school; and assessed costs against the respondent in the amount of \$2,956.05 pursuant to the bar's affidavit of costs. On November 25, 1998, the respondent filed a Petition for Review of the referee's October 29, 1998 report.

On December 4, 1998, the bar filed a Motion for Extension of Time to File Cross-Petition for Review and Response to Petition for Review requesting an extension until after the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar reviewed this matter at their meeting which was to begin on December 10, 1998. On December 7, 1998, the respondent filed a response to the bar's motion for extension of time. The Court granted the bar's motion on December 9, 1998 and the bar was permitted until after the Board of Governors' meeting to file a cross-petition for

review.

At their December 11, 1998 meeting, the Board of Governors determined a petition for review would not be filed by the bar in this matter. The respondent served his Initial Brief on December 23, 1998, and this brief is submitted in response.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Between approximately 1992 and 1995, the respondent referred clients to attorney Steven Vasilaros [TI, pp. 45, 152-153]. During that period, the respondent did not handle civil cases as the focus of his law practice was criminal law [TI, pp. 150-153; Bar Ex. 3, p. 33]. The respondent and Mr. Vasilaros had an oral agreement where Mr. Vasilaros would pay the respondent a referral fee of 25% of any legal fees awarded in a personal injury case where Mr. Vasilaros represented the client [TI, pp. 152-153]. The respondent was not required to perform any services in connection with the representation for which he was receiving the referral fee [Bar Ex. 3, pp. 25, 32, 43-44].

In or around October 1992, the respondent referred Jenine Fox to Mr. Vasilaros for representation concerning her claim for personal injuries [TI, pp. 45, 155]. The respondent and Mr. Vasilaros entered into an oral agreement whereby Mr. Vasilaros would pay a referral fee of 25% to the respondent in connection with Ms. Fox's case if a favorable settlement or verdict was obtained [TI, pp. 45, 155, 162-163]. By letter dated October 29, 1992, Mr. Vasilaros acknowledged that upon successful completion of Ms. Fox's case, he would forward a 25% referral fee to the respondent [Respondent Ex. 1]. That letter was drafted by Mr. Vasilaros but signed by his associate, Jonathan Rotstein [TI, p. 75].

After the successful conclusion of Ms. Fox's civil case for personal injuries, Mr. Vasilaros paid a referral fee of \$650.00 to the respondent, which represented approximately 25% of the total attorney's fees recovered [TI, pp. 46, 64, 157-158]. Other than referring Ms. Fox to Mr. Vasilaros, the respondent performed no legal services for Ms. Fox in connection with her personal injury claim [TI, pp. 45-46, 155]. The respondent did not reduce the referral fee agreement in Ms. Fox's case to writing nor did Ms. Fox agree in writing to the payment of such a referral fee to the respondent [TI, pp. 45, 153, 162-164].

In or around late 1993 or early 1994, Abel Franco, whom the respondent represented in a criminal matter, requested that the respondent handle a civil claim against Mobil Oil Corporation (hereinafter referred to as "Mobil") [TI, p. 162; Bar Ex. 3, pp. 5-6]. The respondent advised Mr. Franco that he did not handle civil claims and referred Mr. Franco to Mr. Vasilaros [Bar Ex. 3, pp. 12-13]. On or about January 26, 1994, Mr. Franco retained Mr. Vasilaros' firm to handle his civil claim against Mobil for the wrongful death of Mr. Franco's wife [Bar Ex. 3, pp. 6, 11]. Mr. Franco executed a contingency fee contract with Mr. Vasilaros' law firm. The respondent did not execute this fee contract nor did the contract mention whether the respondent was entitled to a referral fee [Bar Ex. 3, p. 11]. Mr. Franco never entered into a written referral fee agreement with the respondent in

connection with Mr. Franco's claim against Mobil [Bar Ex. 3, pp. 11, 25-26, 39, 42-43].

Mr. Vasilaros' law firm filed an action on Mr. Franco's behalf that was styled Franco v. Mobil Oil Corporation, Case No. 94-30317-CICI, in the Seventh Judicial Circuit Court in and for Volusia County, Florida [Bar Ex. 1]. Mr. Vasilaros successfully settled Mr. Franco's claim in or around April 1995 for the approximate amount of \$336,000, but did not advise the respondent of the settlement or forward any funds to him as payment of a referral fee [TI, pp. 12, 47-48, 178]. The respondent learned of Mr. Franco's settlement from Mr. Franco in or around April 1995 [TI, p. 163; Bar Ex. 3, p. 37]. The respondent then contacted Mr. Vasilaros to inquire about the payment of a referral fee [Bar Ex. 3, p. 37-38]. Mr. Vasilaros refused to pay the respondent a referral fee because the agreement has not been reduced to writing and signed by the client, Mr. Franco, and the respondent had taken no interest in the case until the settlement funds were disbursed [Bar Ex. 1; Bar Ex. 3, pp. 25-26; TI, pp. 48-49].

On or about November 2, 1995, Mr. Vasilaros' partner, Michael Politis, filed a motion for determination of attorney's fees in Mr. Franco's case to ascertain whether the respondent was entitled to a referral fee [Bar Ex. 1]. On or about March 18, 1996, the circuit court ruled that, because the referral fee

agreement between the respondent and Mr. Vasilaros was oral, the respondent was not entitled to receive a referral fee in the matter [Bar Ex. 2]. The trial court's order was upheld on an appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeals [RB, p. 9; TI, p. 14].

In or around April 1995, the respondent referred Mr. Franco to Mr. Vasilaros for a second civil matter (hereinafter referred to as the "Spears matter") [TI, pp. 62, 67-69, 200]. By letter dated May 3, 1995, Mr. Vasilaros acknowledged the respondent's referral of Mr. Franco in the Spears matter and advised the respondent that he would pay a referral fee of 25% in connection with such case if the case resulted in a favorable settlement or verdict [Respondent Ex. 2]. Mr. Franco never agreed in writing to pay the respondent a referral fee in connection with the Spears matter [TI, pp. 90-91; Bar Ex. 3, pp. 28-30]. The respondent performed no legal services in connection with the Spears matter [TI, pp. 68-71; Bar Ex. 3, pp. 29-30, 44].

On or about March 18, 1996, the respondent, through his counsel, Charles R. Holloman, Jr., filed a bar grievance against Steven Vasilaros alleging Mr. Vasilaros' failure to disburse a 25% referral fee to the respondent in the Franco v. Mobil Oil case [Bar Ex. 4]. The Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" found probable cause against Mr. Vasilaros for improper fee-splitting, and

subsequently Mr. Vasilaros entered into a consent judgment at the referee level for diversion to the bar's practice and professionalism enhancement program [TI, p. 53; TII, p. 43]. During the course of the grievance committee's investigation into Mr. Vasilaros' conduct, the committee directed bar counsel to open a file and investigate the respondent's conduct in regard to improper fee-splitting, which resulted in the instant matter [Bar Ex. 12; Bar Ex. 13; RB, p. 10]. During the course of these proceedings, the respondent filed a bar grievance against Branch Staff Counsel Jan Wichrowski, the bar counsel who handled the grievances against Mr. Vasilaros and the respondent [Respondent Ex. 8]. In or around May 1997, Ms. Wichrowski transferred the handling of the respondent's case to another bar counsel [RB, p. 13; Bar Ex. 11]. On August 20, 1997, the Tampa Branch Office of The Florida Bar dismissed the respondent's grievance against Jan Wichrowski [RB, p. 14].

On October 29, 1998, the referee issued a report, for the second time, recommending the respondent's diversion to a practice and professionalism enhancement program (ethics school). In her report, the referee found that the respondent failed to comply with the requirements of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.5(f) and (g); that there was an oral agreement for referrals in contingent fee cases; that the respondent had made referrals and had received money under this

oral agreement; and that the respondent pursued entitlement to the referral fees through the courts. Further, the referee found that it was the respondent who brought this matter to the attention of The Florida Bar and that the respondent admitted he was ignorant of the ethical requirements of written contracts signed by the client and the participating attorneys [RRII, p. 1]. The referee also assessed the bar's costs against the respondent in the amount of \$2,956.05. In his petition for review of the referee's report, the respondent disputes the referee's findings of fact regarding whether there was a division of fees between lawyers in different firms, and he disputes the referee's assessment of costs.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The respondent contends that the referee's finding that the respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.5(f) and 4-1.5(g) regarding improper referral fees is erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. However, the record shows that the respondent failed to comply with all of the elements of Rules 4-1.5(f) and (g) concerning referral fees. The evidence of the respondent's lack of compliance comes mainly from the respondent's own admissions and testimony. There is no dispute that the respondent referred at least three civil cases to attorney Steven Vasilaros. It is also undisputed that no referral fee contracts were generated or executed by the attorneys or the clients. The respondent acknowledges on the record that he received a referral fee from Mr. Vasilaros in one of the cases he referred. Accordingly, the referee's finding of an improper referral fee is clearly supported by the record.

The assessment of costs in bar disciplinary cases rests with the discretion of the referee. In the present case, the referee found that the respondent engaged in misconduct and appropriately assessed the bar's costs against the respondent. The bar's costs are proper pursuant to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and the respondent has failed to show an abuse of discretion in the referee's assessment of same.

## **ARGUMENT**

## **POINT I**

THE REFEREE'S FINDING OF AN IMPROPER REFERRAL FEE IS SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The respondent contends The Florida Bar charged him with improper referral fees in the matters of Jenine Fox, Franco v. Mobil Oil, and Franco v. Spears, and that there was insufficient evidence for the referee to conclude that there was a division of attorney's fees in those cases. In seeking to overturn a referee's findings of fact, the respondent must show them to be clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Porter, 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996); The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986). In this case, the referee's findings are clearly supported by the record and it is the respondent who is in error.

In the referee's October 29, 1998 report recommending diversion, the referee found that the respondent "had an oral agreement for referrals in contingent fee cases, has made referrals and has [sic] had received money under this oral agreement, and has pursued entitlement to referral fees through the courts." [RRII, p. 1]. The respondent objects to the finding that he received money under the oral referral agreement. He contends that he never received any payments for his referrals and therefore, there was no division of fees between

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